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1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 English Heritage has initiated a national series of Extensive Urban Surveys. Several counties
have commenced such projects, funded by English Heritage, including Cumbria County Council
that is undertaking the survey of the small towns of Cumbria. The survey is intended to provide
an up-to-date view of the archaeological resource in each of the towns building on earlier
surveys (e.g. Winchester, 1979) and consists of three phases: Data Collection, Data Assessment
and Strategy. The first stage, Data Collection, draws together the accessible history of the town,
the archaeological knowledge and historic buildings data. The second phase, Data Assessment,
leads to the production of a report which presents a brief history of the town, (this document is
not intended as a definitive history), an analysis of the plan of the town, an assessment of the
archaeological and historic buildings data, and an assessment of the impact recent development
on archaeological deposits. This information informs the third phase of the survey and allows
for the identification of areas of archaeological importance to be discussed in the Strategy
Report.

1.2 The results of the survey are available in hard copy and as a digital database held by Cumbria
County Council.

1.3 The study area is the historic urban core of each town as defined by the extent of the built
settlement shown on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey (OS) Map (Map A).

1.4 The primary sources consulted in the preparation of this report include the Ordnance Survey
(OS) first edition maps and early plans held at Cumbria Record Office, Carlisle. Other
documentary evidence, mostly secondary sources, were consulted at the Cumbria Record
Office, Kendal and at local libraries. The Sites and Monuments Record (SMR) held at County
Offices, Kendal was also used. A number of secondary sources were consulted when writing the
historical overview of the town.

New information is being added to the Sites and Monuments Record all the time. This study is,
therefore, accurate at the time it was produced and the SMR should always be consulted for
changes and additions since that time.
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2. LOCATION AND GEOLOGY

2.1 Location

2.1.1. Barrow is located within Barrow District.

.

Figure 1. Location of Barrow

2.2 Geology

2.2.1. The solid geology of Barrow is red and grey mudstones with partings of red mudstones of the
Sherwood Sandstone Group (IGS, 1979).

3. ARCHAEOLOGICAL WORK UNDERTAKEN IN BARROW

There has been no recorded archaeological work in the defined historic core of Barrow.
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4. THE HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL CONTEXT

4.1 Place-name evidence

4.1.1. The name Barrow was originally that of an island, Barrai 1190, later called Old Barrow
(Oldebarrey 1537, Old Barro Insula, Barrohead 1577). The town on the mainland took the name
of the island. The name has been interpreted to mean ‘island with promontory’, but it is
probable that the Scandinavian settlers accepted baro- as a meaningless name to which they
added an explanatory second element (Mills, 1976).

4.2 Prehistoric Period (Map B)

Key Points

� Evidence for exploitation of iron ore in Furness during the prehistoric period

� Number of prehistoric finds recovered in area

� No known evidence for prehistoric settlement sites

4.2.1. Modern industry began in Furness in the 18th Century. The origins of this industrialisation can
be traced back into prehistory, for the inhabitants of Furness in the early Iron Age exploited the
rich iron deposits as the evidences of early surface mining a Urswick Stone Walls prove
(Barnes, 1968).

4.2.2. The earliest known evidence for the exploitation of iron ore in Furness is provided by a
Neolithic polished stone axe stained with hematite. This was widely used in the Neolithic period
as a pigment, probably for cosmetic and possibly symbolic body colouring. The pure Furness
ore would have been ideal for the purpose and therefore highly prized. The axe was one of a pair
that have been interpreted as a ritual deposit, a gift to the appropriate deity (Bowden, 2000).

4.2.3. There has been a number of other Neolithic stone axes, adzes and other stone implements found
in the environs of Barrow in Furness. These are recorded on the SMR (see appendix B). There
has also been a number of finds dating to the Bronze Age. No settlement sites have been
recorded in this area although a cairn containing a cremation burial and two Bronze Age pygmy
vessels was found at ‘Dove Cote’, Roose in circa 1810 (SMR 2622).

4.3 Roman Period

Key Points

� There is no known evidence of Roman activity within the defined study area or its environs
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4.4 Early Medieval and Medieval Periods (Map C)

Key Points

� Furness Abbey of great significance in Furness in the medieval period

� Granges of Furness Abbey later became hamlets. These hamlets included Biggar, North Scale,
Barrow Village, Hindpool, Salthouse, Cocken with Ormsgill, Hawcoat and Newbarns

� The monks of Furness Abbey undertook saltmaking and some mining

� Furness suffered Scottish raids in 1316 and 1322

VIKING

There are very few known Anglo-Scandinavian sites or findspots in the Barrow area. Edwards
(1998) reports the finding at Furness of a tiny gilt bronze head, dating to this period, now in the
British Museum. The location and date of the discovery are unknown.

At Urswick Church are two Anglo-Sacndinavian crosses (Parkinson, 1998).

FURNESS ABBEY

William the Conquerer granted Furness to Roger de Poitou. When he was exiled the land was
transferred to Stephen, Count of Boulogne and Mortain, later king of England. Stephen gave the
forest of Furness and Walney to monks of the order of Savigny. The Abbot of Savigny to gave
him a colony of monks to establish a monastery in England (Leach, 1987).

The monks established granges, which eventually grew into villages, in the area around modern
day Barrow. In a Papal Bull in 1190, Pope Clement III mentions the granges of Roos, Barrai
(Barrow) and the island of Walney. In 1247 there were granges at Walney Island, North Scale,
North and South End and Salthouse. By 1292 there were granges at Biggar, North Scale, Barray,
and at Roos, amongst others. In 1336 there are records for a grange at Cocken (Leach, 1987).

Following the foundation of Furness Abbey in 1127, the monks set about reclaiming the derelict
land around Barrow. The labourers were at first accommodated within the walls of the Abbey,
but later were lodged closer to their work. The placenames, Hawcoat, Billingcote and Roosecote
mark the sites of ‘cotes’ or huts erected for this purpose (Kendall, 1897).

The monks leased outlying farms or granges to tenants at a fixed rental and under fixed customs
or conditions. As a rule each township or village under the monks was divided between eight
tenants (Kendall, 1897). Eight homesteads were erected at Cocken and the earliest known
document in which the name Cocken or Kokayn has been found is dated 1336 (Kendall, 1897).

Newbarns is an example of village founded at a grange of Furness Abbey, although it is not
mentioned until 1535 in a valuation of the possessions of Furness Abbey. The amount of land
allocated to Newbarns comprised approximately 420 acres, and consisted of six of the old
Sellergarth town fields. Newbarns was originally divided into 12 tenements, averaging about 33
acres each. The villagers held their tenements on similar conditions to tenants in hamlets in the
district, paying rent in kind, and being responsible for specific duties (Kelly, 1946).

Barrow consisted of eight farms or tenements and Hindpool was included in the Barreyhead
estates. These eight farms existed from the medieval period until the middle of the 18th century.
It would appear that the land between Barrow and Cocken was uncultivated waste until at least
1350, but at some time between 1336 and 1509 the land was reclaimed under the supervision of
the Abbot of Furness and divided into the eight farms. The first documentary evidence for
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Hindpool is in the Court Rolls of Dalton for 1537 and in 1561 there were 7 tenants (Kendall,
1909).

The first documentary reference to Sandscale was in 1292 in the lists of land given to Edward I
by the Pope. In 1516 the Abbot pulled down Sandscale and took the profit from the lands.
Sandscale was probably rebuilt as it was included as a sheep farm in the 1537 valuation of the
abbey (Melville, 1965).

There were four customary tenements at the Abbey Grange at Salthouse. This Grange was first
mentioned by name in the list of Granges enumerated in the bull of Pope Innocent IV dated
1247 and was exempt from the payment of tithes (Kendall, 1948).

Walney had been the property of the crown until Henry I gave it to his nephew Stephen, by
whom it was granted to the Abbey of Furness. Granges were established here in 1191, although
Northscale was first mentioned in documents dated 1247. Towards the end of the 13th century
granges on the island were divided into small holdings and let to tenants by the monks. The
Northscale land was divided among 16 tenants grouped into four federated farm holds or
burgages. The agricultural depression of the late 15th century resulted in more sheep tha arable
farming. Some tenants left and the remaining lands were split between the Abbey and its tenants
(Kendall, 1899).

Dendron is mentioned in the Domesday Book as Dene where a carucate was in the possession of
one Gilemichael . The next reference is in 1239 in an agreement respecting rights of warren
concluded between the Abbot of Furness and William le Furness (Humphris, 1909).

SALTMAKING

The monks constructed a Salt House for the manufacture of salt. The Salt pans were situated at
Mustard Haw, Salthouse. The monks obtained their supply of salt from this place until there was
no longer enough timber to provide fuel for their boiler house fires (Leach, 1987).

MINING

Oregrave, mentioned in Domesday Book and meaning ore diggings, suggests pre-Conquest
mining. The Coucher Book of Furness Abbey contains evidence that the monks extracted ore at
Oregrave (presumably near Tytup hall), Elliscales and Marton. These mines are referred to as the
‘ditch of the iron mine’, and ‘the trench where the iron is dug’, proving that surface deposits
were exploited by open-cast working. In 1240 William of Lancaster made a grant to the Prior of
Conishead of ‘one acre of land next to the stream which runs next to the house of Ricardi le
Tournour for a forge with a yard and for building other houses there, necessary to it’. It has been
estimated that the monks must have maintained about forty iron smelting hearths or bloomeries.
In 1292 their profit from iron was £6 13s. 4d, one sixth of the entire income of the abbey from
temporalities (Barnes 1968).

In 1384 Richard II granted a charter to the abbey of the mining rights of haematite ore at
Elliscales and Dalton, along with those held by William Merton (or Marton) at Marton and
Orgrave, all lying in the close vicinity of the abbey (Parkinson, 1998).

From about 1400 to 1537 the monks confined their activities to mining and working only
sufficient iron to satisfy their own needs and those of their tenants. While there is no record of
any profits from iron working during this period, some tenants of High Furness petitioned the
Crown in 1570 for the right to smelt iron ore for their own use, to replace the iron they used to
receive as tenants of Abbey lands (Barnes 1968).

The medieval method of producing iron was crude and although the finished iron was of good
quality, the process was lengthy. A high percentage of iron was lost in the slag. Because a large
quantity of wood was required as fuel for the process it was cheaper to carry the iron ore to the
wood for smelting. As the wood near to the abbey was depleted, ore had to be carried to hearths
in High Furness where the forest was still not entirely denuded.
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SCOTTISH RAIDS

Scots raided the Furness area twice, once in 1316 and again in 1322 (Leach 1987). The
Lanercost Chronicle records that in 1316 Scots raiders marched south, ‘laying waste everything
as far as Furness and burnt that district with men and women prisoners ….and an abundance of
iron’. In 1322 a second raid left Cartmel left in ruins and the economy of the district severely
damaged. These raids caused the abbey to construct more adequate defences and a castle was
built on the Isle of Fouldrey (Piel Castle) (Parkinson, 1998).

4.5 Post Medieval and Industrial Period

Key Points

� Mining undertaken at larger scale following dissolution of monasteries

� Expansion of iron industry, shipbuilding and port led to growth of Barrow

� Furness Railway opened in 1846

� Charter of Incorporation in 1867

� Large part of town planned by James Ramsden

DEVELOPMENT OF BARROW

Until the mid-19th century the town of Barrow did not exist. Settlement comprised scattered
hamlets within the manor of Plain Furness and the parish of Dalton. The hamlet of Barrow, with
only a few houses, was near the present Schneider Square. The Borough of Barrow eventually
absorbed the ancient hamlets of Biggar, North Scale, Barrow Village, Hindpool, Salthouse,
Cocken with Ormsgill, Hawcoat and Newbarns (Cumbria Records Office, 1999).

In tracing the development of Barrow in Furness it is easy to recognise certain major turning
points, each of which gave fresh impetus and a different direction to this growth. The first was
the opening of the Furness Railway in 1846 and the choice of Barrow as its headquarters.
Barrow was then primarily a port for the export of iron ore, slate and agricultural produce, and
the building of a large system of docks was the logical result. In 1857 Schneider and Hannay
began the manufacture of iron at Hindpool and Barrow became an industrial town as well as a
port. A major step forward for Barrow was the incorporation of the municipal borough in 1867
and 1870 iron-shipbuilding on a large scale was introduced.

James Ramsden was at the centre of every advance. He arrived in Barrow as manager of the
engineering department of the Furness Railway in 1846. His vision of a thriving town of
100,000 people was backed by the Dukes of Devonshire and Buccleuch as well as other
capitalists who financed dock extensions, the manufacture of Bessemer steel, iron shipbuilding
and jute manufacture. He advocated the incorporation of the town and was its first mayor.
Though the reality fell short of this grandiose dream of a town of 100,000, with a system of
docks stretching all the way to Piel, nevertheless Barrow today benefits by his ambitious
planning as evidenced in the wide tree-lined streets and the impressive Town Hall (Barnes,
1968).

EARLY DEVELOPMENT OF HAMLETS

Following the Dissolution land at Cocken passed into the possession of the crown. In 1864, the
majority of the land was sold to the Duke of Devonshire who was acting on behalf of the
Furness Railway Company. Part of the land was sold again in 1872, to the corporation of
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Barrow, to be laid out as a cemetery, and more was disposed a few years later to the Barrow
Haematite Steel Company (Kendall, 1897).

The settlement at Newbarns also passed into the hands of the Crown at the Dissolution. By the
mid 19th century there was no trace of the original 12 homesteads and landholdings. In 1844 the
Newbarns school-chapel was opened for services and teaching. By 1865 with the growth of the
Barrow, land at Newbarns started to be sold for housing and Newbarns eventually became part
of modern day Barrow (Kelly, 1946).

The village of Barrow consisted of eight houses by the middle of the 18th century of which five
were farm houses. When ore shipments started in quantity about 1790, three cottages for
labourers connected with the ore traffic were erected and the demand for more accommodation
resulted in a few pigsties and hen roosts being converted into dwellings (Barnes, 1968). By 1801
Barrow contained eleven dwelling houses and had become a 30 house village by 1845. This
slow but steady expansion was caused by the growing use of Barrow as a port (Barnes, 1968).

The shipping trade led to the growth of Hindpool. In 1854 the Furness Railway Company
purchased the Hindpool estate. In 1859 the first furnace was put in blast at the iron and steel
works erected at Hindpool and in 1864 further steel works were erected opposite the blast
furnaces (Melville, 1956).

In 1540, following the dissolution, the Salthouse passed to the Duchy of Lancaster. In 1867,
Salthouse was incorporated into the new Borough of Barrow (Kendall, 1948).

IRON INDUSTRY

The consumption of wood led to legislation in Elizabeth I’s reign to preserve the woods from
further encroachment by the iron masters. The former Abbey bloomeries at Force Mills in the
Rusland Valley and Cunsey on Windermere had been leased by the Crown to William Sandys
and John Sawrey. In 1564 a Bloomsmithy Decree cancelled this lease to preserve the woods for
the benefit of the tenants of Hawkshead and Cotton. The tenants, in return, undertook to pay the
£20 bloomsmithy rent to the Crown as Lord of the Manor. In 1568 the Crown instituted the
Company of Mines Royal, to exploit tile mineral resources of the Lake District as a Crown
monopoly. The tenants of Furness were allowed, however, to make enough iron for their own
use with the toppings and underwoods but not to sell any iron. Iron smelting in Furness for the
next hundred years was confined to this domestic scale, though the search for ore continued. In
1609 the Crown granted William Southwood a 21 year lease to search for ore in Plain Furness,
and in 1633 a similar lease was granted to prospectors William Scriven and Philip Eden
(Barnes, 1968).

The sale of iron supplemented the living that farmers made from sheep. The clearance of the
ground for charcoal-burning enabled still more sheep to be kept to feed the flourishing cloth
industry centred on Kendal. But though tenant farmers could easily make their own charcoal
and smelt the iron ore, to forge the iron required expensive equipment to develop the industry
on a large scale (Barnes, 1968).

Another important development in the local iron industry was the establishment of forges for
working up the raw iron from the bloomeries. The need for capital brought in the landowners
who already had interests in the woods for charcoal making. They began to invest large sums of
money in iron making  and Cunsey Forge in 1623 paid £250 for the timber from a single piece
of land called Hacket in Langdale. Forges were built during the 17th century at Cunsey, Hacker
in Langdale, Coniston, Force in Rusland, and at Spark Bridge as late as 1710 (Barnes, 1968).

In 1839 H. W. Schneider began a geological exploration of Furness for iron deposits. In 1851,
he found the rich park  deposit near Askam. So rich was this deposit that its output reached
350,000 tons per year by 1870 (Barnes, 1968).

Early methods of steel making had been slow and costly but in 1856 Henry Bessemer invented
his method for converting iron into steel quickly and cheaply. Furness ore was eminently
suitable for use in this process by reason of its negligible phosphorus content. James Ramsden
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formed a company in 1864 to manufacture steel by the Bessemer process and Messrs.
Schneider, Hannay & Co. amalgamated with the new company in 1866 to form the Barrow
Haematite Iron and Steel Company. By then ten furnaces were in blast and by 1876 sixteen
furnaces had been built with an average weekly capacity of 500 tons. The plant then comprised
the largest ironworks and Bessemer plant in the world, and the production of steel rails was
undertaken on a grand scale. (Barnes, 1968).

The rate of development of the iron industry reached its peak in  the 1870’s with the opening of
furnaces at Askam, Ulverston and Carnforth. There was an influx of miners (especially from
Cornwall) but the recession in the industry in the 1890’s halted the inflow and by 1900 miners
were emigrating to South Africa (Barnes, 1968).

There was a number of smaller iron works which have been started in Barrow at various times,
in 1886, for instance, there were six foundries in operation. A small ironworks situated at the
top of Ainslie Street is shown on a map of 1880 and described as " The New Ironworks "- it had
one blast furnace. From 1899 to 1925 this site was occupied by the Griffin Chilled Iron and
Steel works, brought to Barrow by W. F. M. Schneider, son of H. W. Schneider ; they made
chilled iron wheels ; now the site is being cleared for housing. The Charcoal Iron Co. Ltd.,
produced high quality pig iron at Backbarrow (Barnes, 1968).

SHIPBUILDING

In 1667 Samuel Pepys, the famous diarist and Secretary to the Admiralty, suggested that Piel
might be suitable for use as a Royal Dock Yard. A sketch map was produced when the area was
surveyed in 1667. A start may have been made to the construction of a ship but it was never
completed (Cumbria Record Office, undated). Barnes (1968) suggests that this was because a
treaty of peace with Holland put an end to naval building.

The Customs House remained at Piel until 1760 when it was removed to Ulverston ; the old
seal of the Piel Customs House bears a Tudor Rose, probably dating From the time of Elizabeth
or possibly even Henry VII1 (Barnes, 1968).

Ships were built at Carkbeck for the Baltic trade and others at Arnside, Saltcoats, Ulverston and
Greenodd. After the completion of the Ulverston Canal in 1796, the Ulverston building yards
were grouped around it though no ships were built at Ulverston after 1878. (Barnes, 1968).

In 1870 the Barrow Iron Shipbuilding Company was founded at Old Barrow Island. The first
ship was launched from there in May 1873 and the yard went on to launch warships, merchant
ships and submarines. In 1875 Sir James Ramsden became managing director. In 1888 the yard
was taken over by the Navel Construction Armaments Co. Ltd and by 1897, it had become
Vickers Sons and Maxim Ltd (Cumbria Record Office, undated). The original offices are at the
corner of Bridge Road, with the Iron Shipbuilding Company’s insignia. The early slipways were
on the present site by Walney Channel (Marshall, 1977).

Vickers became interested in aviation at an early date and the construction of the first naval
airship began at the Cavendish Dock in 1909. However, the construction of these airships ended
at the outbreak of war in 1914 when resources were switched to naval construction. The peak of
employment was reached in January, 1917, when 31,000 were on the payroll. (Barnes, 1968).

DOCKS

Barrow was originally under the administration of the Port of Lancaster. The Barrow Harbour
Act of 1848 defined the boundaries and established dock charges  (Cumbria Record Office,
undated). As ore exports grew, so did the congestion in Barrow Harbour and in 1850 the
existing eight ore loading berths were cramped and insufficient. In 1854 further ore loading
berths were built and in 1855 dredging started as a result of which the old low-water ford of
stepping stones to Barrow Island disappeared. Harbour dues were increased to 6d. per ton in
1855 (Barnes, 1968).
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In 1863 an Act of Parliament allowed the Furness Railway Company to build docks and expand
the harbour. The Duke of Devonshire officially opened the Devonshire Dock in 1867 (Cumbria
Record Office, undated). The Devonshire Dock sparked the growth of many new trades and
industries that relied on sea transport. Among them was the Barrow Corn Mills completed in
July 1871. The Corn Mills and warehouse buildings had a complex of railway sidings which
were once a hive of activity (Myers, 1993).

Barrow became a separate port from Lancaster in 1872. The construction of docks continued
with the opening of the Graving Dock in 1872, Buccleuch Dock in 1873 and Ramsden and
Cavendish Docks by 1879 (Cumbria Record Office, undated). However, Cavendish Dock never
came into use except as a " feeder " for the other docks. The fate of this large dock is a symbol
of the collapse of the grandiose plans for a Barrow Harbour rivalling Liverpool with a line of
docks right down to Piel. Activity thereafter was chiefly concerned with dredging and
improving Walney Channel and in improving from time to time "deep water berths" for the
various steamer services (Barnes, 1968).

It was primarily iron ore which brought the Furness Railway into being, and it was the carriage
of iron ore which always provided the main source of its prosperity ; with the gradual failure of
the Furness iron mines this prosperity began to fade rapidly in the late 19th century, and the
docks in particular suffered (Barnes, 1968).

TOWN DEVELOPMENT

The Furness Railway was opened in 1846 and the effect of the coming of the railway on the
growth of Barrow can not be underestimated. The earliest cottages built by the Furness Railway
are at 1-22 Salthouse Road. The St George’s School and Institute of the same period was a
social centre and further residential development occurred in this area in the early 1850’s
(Marshall, 1977).

In 1847 the population numbered about 300, by 1864 it had increased to over 11000 and in 1871
it had become 18,000 (Appleby, undated).

The spacious main thoroughfares originated in a plan drafted by Ramsden in 1856; this plan was
a driving force in Barrow’s growth. The main axes are the parallel roads, Duke Street and
Salthouse, intersected by Abbey Road at Ramsden Square (Marshall, 1977).

By 1866 Barrow had become a rapidly growing town of 16,000 inhabitants without any local
governing body. At this date Barrow was part of the huge parish of Dalton, which was divided
into four divisions for the purposes of the appointment of Churchwardens, Overseers of the
Poor, Parochial Constables, and Surveyors of Highways. For matters of poor relief, sanitation
the area was the responsibility of the Board of Guardians at Ulverston. This system of
government was entirely unable to cope with the needs of a growing industrial town, and in
1866 a petition containing 1000 signatures was presented to the Privy Council applying for a
Charter of Incorporation. This was granted on June 13th, 1867. At the same time Barrow was
made a separate Parish and in 1872 Barrow was taken out of the Ulverston Union and given
power to administer its own Poor Law Relief  (Barnes, 1968).

When the blast furnaces were erected in Hindpool in 1859, a grid-iron of streets of uniform
type with dwellings for the workpeople was built up in the immediate vicinity. In the 1860's
and 1870's Barrow’s population increased rapidly and houses were built on a mass scale in the
Paxton Terrace and Church Street area. The Strand was at the centre of the town's life and
Greengate was the principal thoroughfare. By 1867 the town was built-up as far as Rawlinson
Street inland and Blake Street along the coast. The rate of population growth, however, meant
the number of houses constructed was such that there were never enough. Between 1872-74,
Barrow's population jumped from 28,000 to 35,000. The Shipbuilding Company decided to
build wooden huts on Barrow Island to house their workers. Each but had two rooms, twelve
feet square, and by the end of 1873 there were 349 of them in 30 rows (Barnes, 1968).

Barrow ceased to expand about 1881 when the population had reached 47,259. It was then that
the tide of immigration stopped and emigration from the town began.The population continued
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to rise only because the excess of births over deaths was greater than the loss by migration
(Barnes, 1968).

After 1870 the emphasis in Barrow was more and more on shipbuilding and heavy engineering,
and it was only logical that the firm of Vickers should concern themselves with providing
housing for their growing army of workpeople ; this they did by developing Walney (Barnes,
1968).

OTHER INDUSTRIES

The need to diversify Barrow’s economy was recognised at an early date and every effort was
made to introduce new industries to the area. One of these was the Barrow and Calcutta Jute
Company, founded by Ramsden in 1870 and twice damaged by fires in 1879 and 1892. At their
peak the jute works employed 2,000 women, but competition by the Indian jute trade
suppressed the British trade generally and Barrow could not compete with Dundee for the
remnants. The 1892 fire destroyed half the factory and it was never rebuilt (Barnes, 1968).

The Barrow Chemical Wood Pulp Company was formed in 1888 and the works erected in 1889
initially to make wood pulp, but in 1892 paper making machines were installed and the firm
renamed the Killner Partington Paper Pulp Company. In 1919 the firm was reorganised as
Barrow Paper Mills Ltd. (Barnes, 1968).

The Barrow Steam Corn Mills Company was established in 1871 and in 1903 was acquired by
the Liverpool Millers, Hutchinson's  (Barnes, 1968).

CHURCHES

The rapid influx of Irish immigrants had made the building of a Catholic church an urgent
requirement and the Duke of Devonshire had made a free gift of land in Duke Street for this
purpose (Barnes, 1968). St Mary’s Roman Catholic Church was designed by E W Pugin 1866-7,
the steeple in 1888 (http://www.btinternet.com/~lake.district/sl/chf3.htm).  St Mary’s School, on
land given by James Ramsden was opened in 1872 (Barnes, 1968).

Before to the Reformation Furness was part of the Archdeaconry of Richmond in the Diocese of
York. In 1537 the Archdeaconry was transferred to the Diocese of Chester and in 1847 to the
Diocese of Carlisle. In 1884 the Dukes of Devonshire and Buccleuch offered to endow a new
Archdeaconry of Furness, and the Bishop of Carlisle agreed (Barnes, 1968).

With the exception of Furness Abbey and the garrison chapel at Piel, St. Mary's Church at
Walney, is the oldest church in the Borough of Barrow having been founded about 1568. It was
rebuilt at the end of the 17th century a tower added in 1744. It was again rebuilt in 1852, but the
influx of population to Vickerstown necessitated another rebuilding and the foundation stone of
the present church was laid in 1908 (Barnes, 1968).

There was a church at Rampside from at least 1621, the date on the foundation stone of the
church replaced by the present building in 1840. A Sunday School and a day school built near
the church in 1842, were both removed in 1892 (Barnes, 1968).

For many years Dissenters in Barrow met in small groups in private houses. The first place of
worship was built by Baptists in 1853 near Southend Farm, Walney. Later, a Baptist Chapel was
built in Abbey Road in 1873, only to be destroyed in the blitz of 1941. The Congregationalists
built a small Chapel in Hindpool Road in 1857 and enlarged it in 1863. A second
Congregational Church was formed in 1873, meeting at first in the Town Hall and later in the
Ainslie Street Congregational Church. The first Weslyan Chapel was built in Hindpool Road in
1862 and enlarged in 1870. Later a school was opened in Dalton Road in 1868 and further
chapels in Harlington Street (later the site of the King's Hall Mission) in 1874, Abbey Road in
1876, and Greengate Street in the same year. The Trinity Presbyterians first met in 1867, and
their church in School Street was opened in 1875. The Primitive Methodists built chapels in
Forshaw Street (1866), Hartington Street (1874) and Marsh Street (1875). The shift of the
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population of Barrow led to the disuse of the Chapels in Hindpool Road and the opening of
others in various parts of the town (Barnes, 1968).

SCHOOL

The Barrow School Board was created in 1872 and by 1873 there were temporary school
buildings in Rawlinson Street and Island Road. Two years later permanent buildings were
constructed  (Chadderton, 1960).

HOSPITAL

Barrow's first hospital was the Cottage Hospital, was opened in a converted private house in
August 1866, as a voluntary institution. It had 18 beds and was intended to be a ‘temporary
home to sufferers from accidents or sickness who required prompt surgical skill and careful
nursing’. It was taken over in 1870 by a management group consisting of representatives from
local firms and other bodies. It was transferred as the North Lonsdale Hospital to the present site
in 1875. The Health Department opened the Devonshire Road Hospital in 1882, Rakesinoor
Smallpox Hospital in 1903, Risedale Maternity Hospital in 1921, and the Infant Welfare Centre
and Clinic, Abbey Road, in 1934. These hospitals were transferred to the Manchester Region
Hospital Board in 1948 (Barnes, 1968).

TWENTIETH CENTURY WARS

There are a number of recorded anti-aircraft artillery sites in Barrow dating to the First World
War at Vickers, Cemetery and Ramsden Dock (Dobinson (A), 1996). There were also a number
of heavy anti-aircraft artillery sites recorded in the Second World War at North Scale, Biggar,
Ramsden, Rakesmoor, Southend Haws and at Roose (Dobinson (B), 1996). During World War
II, barrage balloons were hoisted from sites at Biggar Bank, Park Drive and the Paper Works.
‘Ghost towns’ of poled lights were erected in Walney channel and off Sandscale and Rampside,
but they were of limited success (Trescatheric, 1979).

The period of Barrow’s Blitz was not long, 14-16 April and 3-10 May 1941, but a surprising
amount of damage was done. However, World War II had brought work and therefore a more
certain future for Barrow’s industries (Trescatheric, 1979).
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5. THE TOPOGRAPHY OF BARROW

5.1 Introduction

Each of the identified components has been given a unique reference number that relates to an
associated map. For example the reference number 4.001 is comprised of a town code (4 for
Barrow) and a unique number, (.001 for an area of medieval tenements). See Appendix A for a
list of all components.

5.2 Medieval Components (Map D)

5.2.1. Tenements

Components 4.001, 4.003-5

The monks of Furness Abbey established a grange at Barrow, which eventually developed into a
village. The monks leased granges to tenants. As a rule each township or village was divided
between eight tenants.

The exact nature and extent of the medieval settlement is uncertain. It is likely that the medieval
settlement is similar to the extent of the hamlet of Barrow as shown on early maps, prior to
industrialisation.

5.3 Post Medieval Components (Map E)

5.3.1. Tenements (The Growth of Barrow in the 19th Century is shown on Map F)

Components 4.007, 4.013, 4.015, 4.018, 4.025-6, 4.031, 4.033, 4.036, 4.039

Components 4.018, 4.036, 4.031, 4.028 (parts): Until the mid-19th century the town of Barrow
did not exist and the area consisted of a few scattered hamlets. The hamlet of Barrow was near
the present Schneider Square and consisted of eight houses. When trade in iron ore began
around 1790 demand for more accommodation increased. By 1801 Barrow contained eleven
houses and by 1845 it had become a 30 house village.

Component 4.028: The Furness Railway opened in 1846 and further stimulated the growth of
Barrow. The earliest cottages built by the Furness Railway are at 1-22 Salthouse Road.

Component 4.043: The 1873 OS map (2nd ed.) shows the Old Barrow brick huts and Old Barrow
National School in this area. The Shipbuilding Company built wooden huts on Barrow Island to
house their workers. Each hut had two rooms, twelve feet square, and by the end of 1873 there
were 349 of them in 30 rows.

5.3.2. Churches

Components 4.019, 4.032, 4.035, 4.042

St Georges church (4.019), the parish church of Barrow is situated in St George's Square. It was
built at the suggestion of Ramsden in 1859-61 to the designs of E. G. Paley (Pevsner, 1969).

St James’ church (4.035), Blake Street, is considered by Pevsner (1969) to be the best church in
Barrow. It was constructed in 1867-9 by E.G.Paley.

St Mary’s Roman Catholic Church (4.032) was designed by E W Pugin in 1866-7, the steeple
was constructed in 1888.
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A Baptist Chapel (4.042) was built in Abbey Road in 1873, only to be destroyed in the blitz of
1941.

5.3.3. Docks

Components 4.008, 4.010, 4.028, 4.050-1

In 1863 an Act of Parliament allowed the Furness Railway Company to build docks and expand
the harbour. The Duke of Devonshire officially opened the Devonshire Dock (4.008) in 1867.

Barrow became a separate port from Lancaster in 1872. The construction of docks continued
with the opening of the Graving Dock (4.010) in 1872, Buccleuch Dock (4.028) in 1873 and
Ramsden (4.051) and Cavendish Docks (4.050) by 1879.

5.3.4. Industrial

Components 4.006, 4.009, 4.0011-12, 4.014, 4.021, 4.024, 4.027, 4.030, 4.037, 4.040-1, 4.046,
4.049

Component 4.006: A shipbuilding yard is shown here on the 1890 OS map (3rd ed.).

Component 4.009: In 1870 the Barrow Iron Shipbuilding Company was founded. In 1875 Sir
James Ramsden became managing director. In 1888 the yard was taken over by the Navel
Construction Armaments Co. Ltd and by 1897, it had become Vickers Sons and Maxim Ltd
(Cumbria Record Office, undated). The first offices are at the corner of Bridge Road. The early
slipways were on the present site by Walney Channel (Marshall, 1977).

Component 4.011: The 1873 map shows 2 foundries, a gasworks, a steam corn mill, a coal
yard, Stuart’s rope walk, a bonded warehouse, jute warehouses and a hydraulic engine yard
here. The Devonshire Dock sparked the growth of many new trades and industries that relied
on sea transport. Among them was the Barrow Corn Mills which was completed in July 1871.
The Corn Mills and warehouse buildings had a complex of railway sidings.

Component 4.012: The 1873 map shows Hindpool Steam Saw Mills with associated timber
yard, a claypit, further sawmills, a shipbuilding yard, and an iron and steelworks here. The
1890 OS map (3rd ed.) shows a brass foundry and Graving Dock shipbuilding and engineering
works here.

The Barrow Haematite Iron and Steel Company was formed in 1866 and situated here. At this
time ten furnaces were in blast and by 1876 sixteen furnaces had been built with an average
weekly capacity of 500 tons. The plant then comprised the largest ironworks and Bessemer
plant in the world.

Component 4.014: The Barrow and Calcutta Jute Company was founded by Ramsden in 1870
and was twice damaged by fires in 1879 and 1892. At their peak the jute works employed 2,000
women but competition by the Indian jute trade suppressed the British trade generally and
Barrow could not compete with Dundee for the remnants. The 1892 fire destroyed half the
factory and it was never rebuilt.

Component 4.021: Cavendish Street Brewery is shown here on the 1873 OS map (2nd ed.).

Component 4.024: Two foundries are shown here on the 1873 OS map (2nd ed.).

Component 4.027: A timberyard and sawmill are shown here on the 1873 OS map (2nd ed.).

Component 4.030: A timber pond is shown here on the 1873 OS map (2nd ed.).

Component 4.037: A coalyard is shown here on the 1890 OS map (3rd ed.).
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Component 4.040-1: The first edition OS map of 1851 shows iron ore and coal yards in this
area, their exact location is uncertain. The Kendall’s 1843 plan of Barrow shows a smithy,
brewery and malt kiln here.

Component 4.046: A paper pulp works is shown here on the 1890 OS map (3rd ed.).

Component 4.049: North Lancashire Brick and Tile works and an iron works are shown here
on the 1890 OS map (3rd ed.).

5.3.5. Market Place

Components 4.017

The 1873 OS map shows a covered market and a market hall extending in this area under the
site of the present Town Hall. The 1890 map shows the Town Hall erected and the open market
on the opposite side of Market Street.

5.3.6. Road Network

Component 4.038

The road network has remained largely unchanged since the late 19th century.

5.3.7. Public Building

Component 4.016

The Town Hall, Duke Street was constructed by W.H. Lynn of Belfast in 1882-7 (Pevsner,
1969).

5.3.8. School

Components 4.020, 4.022, 4.034

St George’s National School (4.020), Weslayan Schools, and St James’ School (4.034) are
shown here on the 1873 2nd edition OS map.

5.3.9. Theatre

Component 4.023

The Theatre Royal is shown here on the 1873 2nd edition OS map.

5.3.10.Railway and Stations

Component 4.029, 4.047-8

The Furness Railway was opened in 1846.
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6. RECENT DEVELOPMENT (Map G)

Recent development is defined as development that took place post 1945.

There has been extensive redevelopment in Barrow. Areas of Barrow suffered damage from
bombing raids during World War II and redevelopment was therefore inevitable.
Redevelopment has also taken place in the former heavy industrial areas of the town following
the decline of these industries. There has also been extensive retail development off Dalton
Road and Schneider Square. No archaeological work has been undertaken in advance of these
developments.

7. LISTED BUILDINGS (Map H)

There are a number of Listed Buildings in Barrow dating mainly to the 19th century, although
there are a few listed buildings dating to the 20th century. The Listed Buildings are represented
on Map H and in Appendix C. The information used in compiling this data set is based on the
listing descriptions provided by the Department of Culture Media and Sport and its
predecessors.

8. THE POTENTIAL OF BARROW

The aim of the Data Collection and Data Assessment phases of the project is to enable the
identification of areas of archaeological importance within each town to inform the strategy
phase of the project. The areas of importance are shown in the Strategy Report, Part B, Map C.

8.1 Research Framework

• Further archaeological evidence is required to better understand the prehistoric and medieval
exploitation of iron ore. Selective excavation is required to provide a firm chronological
framework for the earliest stages of the industry.

• Barrow contains abundant examples of late nineteenth century housing. The importance of
this housing lies in its definition of settlement character. An in depth social and architectural
study of this working class housing provision is therefore recommended. As is full
architectural recording and assessment of the historical and architectural significance of any
industrial remains within Barrow.

• Archaeological work in the area of the medieval settlement of Barrow, to determine the
nature of any archaeological deposits here.

8.2 Archaeological Preservation

No recorded archaeological work has been undertaken in Barrow and therefore the potential for
archaeological deposits here is unknown. There has also been extensive redevelopment in
Barrow that may have destroyed any archaeological deposits. However, archaeological work in
similar towns in Lancashire that have seen major post-medieval and 19th century development
does indicate that deposits can survive. This may be the case in Barrow, especially in the areas
of settlement prior to industrialisation.

There is also considerable potential for the survival of early industrial remains both below and
above ground. In many cases earlier remains may be incorporated into later structures. The
survival of late 19th century housing is also good.
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APPENDIX A

LIST OF COMPONENTS

Component number Period Type of Site Page number

C4.001 Medieval Tenements

C4.003 Medieval Tenements

C4.004 Medieval Tenements

C4.005 Medieval Tenements

C4.006 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.007 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.008 Post Medieval Docks

C4.009 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.010 Post Medieval Docks

C4.011 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.012 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.013 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.014 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.015 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.016 Post Medieval Public Building

C4.017 Post Medieval Market Place

C4.018 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.019 Post Medieval Church

C4.020 Post Medieval School

C4.021 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.022 Post Medieval School

C4.023 Post Medieval Theatre

C4.024 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.025 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.026 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.027 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.028 Post Medieval Docks

C4.029 Post Medieval Station

C4.030 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.031 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.032 Post Medieval Church

C4.033 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.034 Post Medieval School

C4.035 Post Medieval Church
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C4.036 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.037 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.038 Post Medieval Road Network

C4.039 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.040 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.041 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.042 Post Medieval Church

C4.043 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.044 Post Medieval Tenements

C4.045 Post Medieval Railway

C4.046 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.047 Post Medieval Railway

C4.048 Post Medieval Station

C4.049 Post Medieval Industrial

C4.050 Post Medieval Docks

C4.051 Post Medieval Docks
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APPENDIX B

LIST OF SELECTED SMR ENTRIES

SMR No. SITE NAME SITE TYPE PERIOD

2273 Barrow in Furness Knife Find Knife Prehistoric
2274 Barrow in Furness Arrow Head

Find
Arrow Head Prehistoric

2285 Dalton in Furness Celt Find Celt Prehistoric
2296 Perforated Pebble/Mace Head

find, Croslands Park,
Barrow in Furness

Mace Prehistoric

2298 Rubbing Stone (Grain) Find,
Hawcoat Barrow in Furness

Rubbing Stone (Grain) Prehistoric

2304 Stone Axe Find, Beacon Hill,
Barrow in Furness

Axe Prehistoric

2593 Axe Find near Greengate Bridge,
Barrow in Furness

Axe Prehistoric

2599 Roose Adze Find, Barrow in
Furness

Adze Prehistoric

2601 Moorhead, Roosecote Celt, Stone
Implement Find,
Barrow in Furness

Celt Prehistoric

2608 Black Castle Hillfort,
Barrow in Furness

Hillfort Prehistoric

2609 Barrow in Furness
Mace/Perforated Stone Find

Mace/Perforated Prehistoric

2622 Cremation Burial, Dove Cote,,
Roose, Barrow in Furness

Cremation Urn Prehistoric

2623 West Shore Secondary School,
Walney Island
Flints/Chipping Floor,
Barrow in Furness

Flint Working Site Prehistoric

2627 Barrow in Furness Settlement Settlement Prehistoric
2716 Perforated Stone Find, Walney

Island, Barrow in Furness
Axe Prehistoric

2717 Barrow in Furness Axe Find Axe Prehistoric
2724 Barrow in Furness Central Station

Axe Find
Axe Prehistoric

2725 Mill Lane/Promenade Axe Find,
Barrow in Furness

Axe Prehistoric

2729 Walney Island Axe Find,
Barrow in Furness

Axe Prehistoric

2730 Walney Island Axe Find,
Barrow in Furness

Axe Prehistoric

2731 Biggar Bank, Walney Island Axe,
Barrow in Furness

Axe Prehistoric

2738 Vickerstown Flint Finds,
Barrow in Furness

Flints Prehistoric

3114 Vickerstown Axe Find,
Barrow in Furness

Axe Prehistoric

3584 Moor Head, Barrow in Furness
Celt, Perforated Stone Find

Celt/Perforated Stone Prehistoric

3596 Vickerstown, Walney Perforated
Stone Find, Barrow in Furness

Perforated Stone Prehistoric

3870 Axe Find, Walney Island,
Barrow in Furness

Axe Prehistoric
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5597 Urn Find, Roose,
Barrow in Furness

Urn Prehistoric

5600 Axe, Barrow in Furness Axe Prehistoric
19063 Axe Find, Barrow in Furness Axe Prehistoric
2235 Spital, Urswick Leper Hospital,

Ulverston
Leper Hospital Medieval

2255 Newbarns, Incorporating Stone
from Furness Abbey

Building Stone Medieval

2257 Newbarns Building Stone,
Barrow in Furness

Building Stone Medieval

2276 Sauterhouse Bridge,
Barrow in Furness

Bridge Medieval

2277 Park House Farmhouse,
Barrow in Furness

Cross Passage House Medieval

2278 Walton Cote House,
Barrow in Furness

House Medieval

2290 Croslands Park Coin Find,
Barrow in Furness

Coin Medieval

2594 Salthouse Salt Works,
Barrow in Furness

Salt Works Medieval

2602 Roose Coin Find,
Barrow in Furness

Coin Medieval

2635 Coin Find, Hawcoat Stile,
Barrow in Furness

Coin Medieval

2715 Cocken Deserted Village,
Barrow in Furness

Deserted Village Medieval

2726 Vickerstown Coin Find,
Barrow in Furness

Coin Medieval

2727 Church of St Mary,
Barrow in Furness

Church/Chapel Medieval

4265 Hawcoat Village,
Barrow in Furness

Village Medieval

4266 Newbarns Village,
Barrow in Furness

Village Medieval

6841 Barrow in Furness, Sowerby Park Park Medieval
1499 The Barrow Haematite Steel Co,

Hindpool, Barrow in Furness
Steel Works/Blast Furness Post Medieval

2289 Summerhill Quern Find,
Barrow in Furness

Quern Post Medieval

2607 Barrow in Furness Quern Find Quern Unknown
2727 Church of St Mary,

Barrow in Furness
Church/Chapel Medieval/Post

Medieval
4372 Roosecote Farmhouse and Barn,

Barrow in Furness
Barn/House Post Medieval

5603 Knife, Walney Channel,
Vickerstown, Barrow in Furness

Knife Unknown

19157 Roman Coin Find, Hartington
Street, Barrow in Furness

Coin Roman

16229 Site of Parrock Hall,
Barrow in Furness

Building Unknown

16230 Barrow Railway Rolling Stock
Works, Barrow in Furness

Works Post Medieval

16231 Salthouse Brickworks,
Barrow in Furness

Brickworks Post Medieval

16232 Marsh Iron and Brass Foundry,
Barrow in Furness

Foundry Post Medieval

16233 Soho Foundry, Barrow in Furness Foundry Post Medieval
16234 Old Barrow Railway Station,

Barrow in Furness
Railway Station Post Medieval
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16235 Cavendish Street Brewery,
Barrow in Furness

Brewery Post Medieval

16236 Barrow Work House,
Barrow in Furness

Workhouse Post Medieval

16237 Vulcan Steel and Forge Works,
Barrow in Furness

Steelworks Post Medieval

16238 Salthouse Tramway Depot,
Barrow in Furness

Tram Depot Post Medieval

16239 Salthouse Mission Room,
Barrow in Furness

Mission Hall Post Medieval

16240 Barrow Corporation Store Yard,
Barrow in Furness

Warehouse Post Medieval

16241 Railwaymen’s Club and Site of
Cambridge Hall Mechanics
Institute, Barrow in Furness

Mechanics Institute Post Medieval

16242 Barrow Drill Hall,
Barrow in Furness

Drill Hall Post Medieval

16243 Barrow Petroleum Storage Depot,
Barrow in Furness

Oil Refinery Post Medieval

16244 Buccleuch Dock Steam Saw Mill,
Barrow in Furness

Saw Mill Post Medieval

16245 Barrow Island Timber Yard,
Barrow in Furness

Timber yard Post Medieval

16250 DELETED ENTRY Furness
Railway, Stank Branch,
Barrow in Furness

Railway Post Medieval

16267 Barrow Flax and Jute Works,
Barrow in Furness

Flax Mill Post Medieval

16268 Hindpool Brass Foundry,
Barrow in Furness

Foundry Post Medieval

16269 Hindpool Mission Room,
Barrow in Furness

Chapel Post Medieval

16270 Devonshire Dock Timber yard and
Sawmill, Barrow in Furness

Saw Mill Unknown

16271 Barrow Island Boat Houses and
Ferry Slip, Barrow in Furness

Boat House/Ferry Post Medieval

16272 Barrow Island School,
Barrow in Furness

School Post Medieval

16273 Barrow Patent, Hemp and Wire
Rope Works, Barrow in Furness

Ropery/Ropewalk Post Medieval

16274 Devonshire Dock Transit Shed,
Barrow in Furness

Warehouse Post Medieval

16275 Devonshire Dock Railway Goods
Depot, Barrow in Furness

Goods yard Post Medieval

16276 Devonshire Dock Bonded
Warehouse, Barrow in Furness

Warehouse Post Medieval

16277 Barrow Jute Warehouses,
Barrow in Furness

Warehouse Post Medieval

16278 Barrow Custom House,
Barrow in Furness

Custom House Post Medieval

16279 Barrow General Post
Office/Customs House,
Barrow in Furness

Custom House/Post Office Post Medieval

16280 Cricket/Parade Ground,
Barrow in Furness

Parade Ground/Cricket
Ground

Post Medieval

16281 Gospel Tent, Barrow in Furness Chapel Post Medieval
16282 Barrow Engine House,

Barrow in Furness
Engine House Post Medieval

16283 North Road Sawmill, Saw Mill Post Medieval
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Barrow in Furness
16297 Walney Parish School,

Barrow in Furness
School Unknown

16305 Barrow Island Lime Kiln,
Barrow in Furness

Lime Kiln Post Medieval

16311 Hindpool Tile and Brickworks,
Barrow in Furness

Brickworks Unknown

16312 Barrow Engine House,
Barrow in Furness

Engine House Post Medieval

16313 Barrow Railway Station,
Barrow in Furness

Railway Station Post Medieval

16314 Barrow Pier, Barrow in Furness Pier Post Medieval
16315 Lime Kiln, Barrow in Furness Lime Kiln Unknown
16316 Barrow Iron Ore and Coal Yard,

Barrow in Furness
Coal Shed Post Medieval

16317 Salthouse Lime Kiln,
Barrow in Furness

Lime Kiln Post Medieval

16318 Salthouse Lane Lime Kiln,
Barrow in Furness

Lime Kiln Post Medieval

16319 Roose Brick Field and Brick Kiln,
Barrow in Furness

Brick Kiln Post Medieval

16320 Roose Corn Mill,
Barrow in Furness

Watermill Unknown

16321 Rabbit Hill Foot Bridge,
Barrow in Furness

Footbridge Post Medieval

16322 Roose Quarry, Barrow in Furness Quarry Unknown
16884 World War II Pillbox near Jubilee

Bridge, Barrow in Furness
Pillbox Modern

16885 World War II Pillbox near
Devonshire Bridge,
Barrow in Furness

Pillbox Modern

16893 Barrow World War II Pillbox,
Barrow in Furness

Pillbox Modern

16900 Two World War II Pillboxes near
Cavendish Park,
Barrow in Furness

Pillbox Modern

16902 World War Ii Pillbox near
Ramsden Dock,
Barrow in Furness

Pillbox Modern

16903 World War II Pillbox near
Allotment Gardens,
Barrow in Furness

Pillbox Modern

16907 World War II Pillbox near
Salthouse Pool, Barrow in Furness

Pillbox Modern

16908 World War II Pillbox, Salthouse
Road, Barrow in Furness

Pillbox Modern

19098 Roman Coin Find, Beacon Hill,
Barrow in Furness

Coin Roman

19109 Coin Find, Barrow in Furness Coin Roman
19762 Smallpox Hospital, Barrow Island,

Barrow in Furness
Hospital Post Medieval

19763 Shipyard Cottages, Barrow Island,
Barrow in Furness

Tenement Post Medieval

19767 Barrow in Furness, Buccleuch
Dock

Dock Basin Post Medieval

19766 Barrow in Furness, Devonshire
Dock

Dock Basin Post Medieval

19770 Barrow Iron Shipbuilding
Company’s Works,

Shipyard Post Medieval
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Barrow in Furness
19772 Barrow in Furness, Ramsden

Dock Cottages
Dock Workers’ Cottage Post Medieval

19771 Barrow in Furness, Timber Ponds Timber Pond Post Medieval
19773 Barrow in Furness, Furness

Railway Company’s Works,
Engine Shed

Railway Carriage
Works/Engine Shed

Post Medieval
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APPENDIX C

LISTED BUILDINGS

SMR No. REFERENCE BUILDING TYPE DESCRIPTION CENTURY GRADE
26987 SD1969SE 708-

1/12/36
Hotel Hotel Imperial

Cornwallis Street
19th II

26988 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/37

Lamp Standards Outside Hotel Imperial
Cornwallis Street

19th II

27020 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/66

Town Hall Duke Street 19th II*

27012 SD1968 707-
1/13/58

Post Office Burlington House Duke
Street

19th II

27015 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/61

Hotel Hotel Majestic, Duke
Street

20th II

27018 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/65

Sculpture Of Henry Schneider,
Duke Street

19th II

26990 SD1968 708-
1/13/39

Public House 29 (The Albion) Dalton
Road

19th II

27001 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/47

House 4 Duke Street 1900 II

26991 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/40

Shop 36 Dalton Street 19th II

27011 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/57

School Alfred Barrow School 19th II

27087 SD26NW 708-
1/6/118

Sunday School/ Hall Victoria Hall, Rawlinson
Street

19th II

26964 SD16NE 708-
1/5/22

Commercial
Buildings

Oxford Chambers,
Abbey Road

19th II

26965 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/23

2 Telephone Kiosks Adjacent to public
library, Abbey Road
(K6)

20th II

26966 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/24

Baths Ramsden Hall, Abbey
Road

19th II

27090 SD26NW 708-
1/6/121

Shop 32 Robert Street 19th II

27113 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/139

Railway Station now
Club

Railwayman’s Club, St
George’s Square

19th II

27115 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/141

Public House Harbour Hotel, Strand 19th II

27111 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/137

Bank now health club 1 St George’s Square 19th II

27105 SD26NW 708-
1/6/132

Church now
warehouse

Presbyterian Church,
School Street

19th II

27112 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/138

Church Church of St George, St
George’s Square

19th II

27098 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/129

Vicarage now flats St George’s House,
Salthouse Road

19th II

27104 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/131

Terrace 2-26 School Street 19th II

27086 SD26NW 708-
1/6/117

Terrace 113-119 Rawlinson
Street

19th II

27106 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/133

School St George’s Church of
England Primary School,
School Street

19th II

27091 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/122

Terrace 2-10 Salthouse Road 19th II
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27092 SD2068NW 708-
1/14/123

Terrace 14-20 Salthouse Road 19th II

27050 SD1968 708-
1/13/92

Offices ADO Building
Michaelson Road
Barrow Island

20th II

27054 SD1968 708-
1/13/94

Works entrance lodge VSEL Gates, Michaelson
Road

20th II

27002 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/48

Shops 63, 65, 67 Duke Street 19th II

27003 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/49

Shops 77 & 79 Duke Street 19th II

27004 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/50

Commercial premises 81-89 Duke Street 19th II

27005 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/51

Bank 92-96 Barclays Bank,
Duke Street

19th II

26957 SD16NE 708-
1/5/15

Technical School College of Further
Education, Abbey Road

20th II

26967 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/25

Club Working Men’s Club,
Abbey Road

19th II

26958 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/16

Club Conservative Club,
Abbey Road

19th II

27017 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/63

Public Library Duke Street 20th II

27016 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/62

Bank National Westminster
Bank, Duke Street

19th II

27019 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/64

Statue Of Sir James Ramsden,
Duke Street

19th II

27010 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/56

Shops 127-131 Duke Street 19th II

27009 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/55

Bank 125 Duke Street 19th II

27008 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/54

Public House 121-123 Duke Street 19th II

27007 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/53

Shops etc 111-119 Duke Street 19th II

27006 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/52

Shops 101-109 Duke Street 19th II

27069 SD1969 SE 708-
1//12/102

Terrace 1-41 Parade Street 19th II

27070 SD1969 SE 708-
1//12/103

Terrace 2-46 Parade Street 19th II

27042 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/84

Terrace 2-46 Keith Street 19th II

27041 SD1969SE 708-
1/12/83

Terrace 1-51 Keith Street 19th II

27051 SD1968 708-
1/13/93

Workshop Engineering Workshop,
Michaelson Road,
Barrow Island

19th II

27053 SD1968 708-
1/13/95

Tenement Block 10-14 Devonshire
Buildings, Michaelson
Road

19th II*

27114 SD1968 708-
1/13/140

Tenement Block 1-13 Steamer Street 19th II*

27108 SD1968 708-
1/13/135

Tenement Block 1-9 Ship Street 19th II

26972 SD1968 708-
1/13/30

Tenement Block 1-9 Barque Street 19th II

26986 SD1968 708-
1/13/35

Tenement Block 1-9 Brig Street 19th II
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27107 SD1968 708-
1/13/134

Tenement block 1-9 Schooner Street 19th II

27109 SD1968 708-
1/13/136

Tenement block 1-3 Sloop Street 19th II*

27052 SD1968 708-
1/13/91

Tenements Block etc 1-9 Devonshire
Buildings, Island Road
Mission and Devonshire
Public House,
Michaelson Road

19th II*

26956 SD1969 SE 708-
1//12/14

Fire Station Central Fire Station,
Abbey Road

20th II

27013 SD16NE 708-
1/5/59

Church Church of St Mary of
Furness

19th II

27014 SD1969 SE 708-
1//12/60

Presbytery To Church of St Mary of
Furness

19th II

26983 SD16NE 708-
1/5/31

Church Church of St James,
Blake Street

19th II*

27030 SD16NE 708-
1/5/73

Customs House now
club

St Mary’s Club,
Hindpool Road

19th II

26985 SD1968 708-
1/13/33

Shipyard Office VSEL, General offices,
Bridge Road

19th II

27058 SD16NE 708-
1/5/97

Graving Dock North Road 19th II

27031 SD16NE 708-
1/5/74

Statue Of Lord Frederick
Cavendish, Hindpool
Road

19th II

26959 SD16NE 708-
1/5/17

Commercial
Buildings

Cooke’s Buildings
Abbey Road

19th II

26960 SD16NE 708-
1/5/18

Hotel Duke of Edinburgh,
Abbey Road

19th II


